COPY

S223876

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY 1 2 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

ESTUARDO ARDON, ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF AND OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED

Plaintiff and Respondent,

DeputyCRC 8.25(b)

V.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

Defendant and Petitioner

PETITIONER CITY OF LOS ANGELES' OPENING BRIEF

On Review of a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal Case No. B252476

Affirming a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Lead Case No. BC363959
Honorable Lee Smalley Edmon, Judge Presiding

[Related to Case Nos. BC406437; BC404694; and BC363735]

Michael G. Colantuono (SBN 143551)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Supreme Court granted the City of Los Angeles' ("City") Petition for Review on March 11, 2015.

The Petition raised the following issues:

- 1. Does inadvertent disclosure of privileged documents by a clerk responding to a Public Records Act, Government Code sections 6250 et seq. ("Public Records Act"), request waive attorney-client privilege and work product protections, when the holders of the privileges (the City Council and the City's attorneys, respectively) were neither notified of the request nor had opportunity to review the documents before disclosure?
- 2. Does a municipal clerical employee have authority to waive the attorney-client privilege and the protection of the work product doctrine?
- 3. Is disqualification appropriate when counsel breaches ethical standards requiring an attorney who receives inadvertently disclosed, privileged documents to refrain from examining the materials any more than is necessary to ascertain privilege and to immediately notify the sender?

Respondent Estuardo Ardon's ("Ardon") Answer stated no other issues for consideration, and the order granting review stated no limitations on the issues presented.

INTRODUCTION

In a published opinion ("the Opinion"), the Court of Appeal held the Public Records Act limits the force of the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine such that inadvertent disclosure of privileged materials by a clerical employee responding to a Public Records Act request waives those protections, even though inadvertent disclosure by an attorney responding to an identical discovery request does not. That Opinion flies in the face of decades-long authority that protects privileged material from mistaken disclosure. At its essence, the Court of Appeal decision declares that the public's right to know under the Public Records Act trumps public agencies' attorney-client and work product privileges. It does so without plain authorization by statute or case law.

This unprecedented conclusion that a public agency's privileges may be waived by a clerical error will harm both public agencies and the Californians they serve. To maintain these vital privileges under this decision, governments must treat public records requests as defensively and with the same application of expensive legal services as they do discovery requests. This will inevitably slow and complicate disclosure of public records and benefit neither the public fisc nor the transparency objective of the Public Records Act. Additionally, such a rule will discourage creation of privileged materials in the first instance, impairing

counsel's ability to communicate with and to defend public agency clients and those clients' capacity to understand and follow the law.

As Justice Mosk wrote for a unanimous Court:

A city council needs freedom to confer with its lawyers confidentially in order to obtain adequate advice, just as does a private citizen who seeks legal counsel, even though the scope of confidential meetings is limited by this state's public meeting requirements.

(Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363, 380 [neither Public Records Act nor open-meeting statute abrogates attorney-client privilege applied to counsel's memo regarding land use matter to be heard at public hearing] ("Roberts").)

Although both lower courts declined to harmonize the Public Records Act with statutes and case law establishing privilege, this Court need not. Rather, this Court should take this opportunity to clarify that public agencies' privileges are no less than those of private parties and that agencies are not held to a standard of perfection the law recognizes private parties cannot attain. Human error is inevitable, permitting the public to capitalize and leverage such error to the detriment of public agencies is not. The City respectfully requests this Court reverse and order the privileged material at issue returned to the City, prohibit plaintiff's counsel from distributing it or using it in any way and disqualify them from this action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial Court Proceedings

This Court has seen this case once before. (*Ardon v. City of Los Angeles* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 241 [Government Claims Act permits class action claims against local governments]. It challenges the City's telephone users tax ("TUT") in effect before March 2008. This appeal, however, involves only whether Ardon's counsel may flout the City's attorney-client, attorney work product and deliberative process privileges by using the City's defense counsel's own written analysis of this very case to the City's disadvantage.

When the City learned its privileged materials had been inadvertently disclosed to opposing counsel, it sought their return. (1 CT 155, 213-215 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 12 and Exh. 9 thereto].) When opposing counsel refused, the City filed its Motion to Compel Return of Privileged Material and to Disqualify Counsel of Record ("Motion to Compel"). (1 CT 121.)¹ The Motion to Compel seeks to require the return of privileged materials and to disqualify Ardon's counsel to ensure the City is not disadvantaged by opposing counsel's familiarity with the City's counsel's own strategic evaluation of the case.

On hearing on the Motion to Compel, the trial court requested supplemental briefing on the legislative history of the Public

¹ "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript.

Records Act and the application of Professional Rules of Conduct, Rule 2-100 ["Communications With a Represented Party"]. (July 1, 2013 Reporter's Transcript at p. 17.) At a second hearing, the trial court adopted as its final order a tentative ruling denying the Motion to Compel. (October 25, 2013 Reporter's Transcript at p. 14; 2 CT 474–484.)

The City timely appealed pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(6), allowing immediate appeal of an order denying a motion to disqualify counsel.

B. Court of Appeal Proceedings

The Second District affirmed in a published opinion ("Opinion"). ² In so doing, the Court of Appeal held that a provision of the Public Records Act preventing selective disclosure of public records to favored persons trumps public agencies' privileges. The Court of Appeal adopted the trial court's conclusion that:

[u]nlike litigation discovery, where inadvertent disclosure is expressly protected from waiver by statute (See Evid. Code § 912; Code Civ. Proc., § 2031. 285), any privileged document disclosed pursuant to the [Public Records Act] is waived as to the world

(Opinion at p. 4 [emphasis added].)

² The Court of Appeal's opinion is attached as Exhibit 1 pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.520(h).

The City timely petitioned for review, which this Court granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ardon claims an Internal Revenue Service's ("IRS") 2006 decision set forth in Notice 2006-50 to exclude charges for long distance service based only on time — as opposed to time and distance — from the Federal Excise Tax ("FET") base required a similar reduction in the base of telephony subject to the City's TUT. (1 CT 22–23 [Corrected First Amended Class Action Complaint, ¶¶ 6–9.) The City, of course, disagrees.

Ardon served a first request for production of documents. (1 CT 152 [Declaration of Holly O. Whatley ("Whatley Decl.") at ¶ 2].) He sought, among other things, a variety of City documents relating to the FET, the IRS Notices reflecting that agency's changed interpretation of the FET, and communications regarding the application of the TUT to long distance telephone service charged only by duration of the call. (1 CT 161.)

Ardon served a second request for production of documents, seeking documents in the City's possession concerning the TUT authored by the League of California Cities ("League") – of which the City is a member. (1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 3]; 1 CT 168.)

Ardon simultaneously served on the League of California Cities a deposition subpoena for production of business records seeking

records related to the FET; the amendment of any tax on telephone service to eliminate any reference to the Internal Revenue Code, including the FET; the IRS' notices that announced its changed interpretation of the FET; the application of any tax to long distance telephone service charged only on the basis of the duration of calls; and League communications on behalf of or at the direction of the City relating to any of these. (1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 4]; 1 CT 174–175.)

Judge Anthony J. Mohr granted the League's and the City's motions to quash. (1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 5]; 1 CT 177.) He concluded the material Ardon sought was protected by the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine. (*Id.*)

The City produced documents in response to Ardon's two requests for production of documents, but withheld 27 documents described in a privilege log provided to Ardon's counsel ("Privilege Log"). (1 CT 154 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 7]; 1 CT 195–201.)

More than five years after the City claimed the privilege as detailed in that Privilege Log, Ardon's counsel first disclosed to the City that she had obtained a number of those very attorney-client privileged documents in response to a Public Records Act request. (1 CT 154 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 8]; 1 CT 203.) In her letter, Ardon's counsel claims to possess three documents the City withheld as privileged:

1. September 18, 2006 Letter from Chief Assistant City Attorney,
David Michaelson, to City Administrative Officer, William

Fujioka ("Michaelson Letter"). This letter analyzes the Impact of IRS Notice 2006-50 on the City's TUT — the core issue in this case — and City options, including defense arguments to claims identical to Ardon's. The Privilege Log identified this as "Letter prepared by legal counsel" at numbers 3 and 21, and the City designated it as protected by the attorney-client, attorney work product and deliberative process privileges. (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 9]; 1 CT 206.) The letter itself bears the legend atop page one "ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATION." (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 9].)

- 2. June 27, 2006 Memorandum from the League to California City Attorneys ("League Memo"). This memorandum, an attachment to the Michaelson Letter, analyzes the possible impact on local utility user taxes of the IRS Notice 2006-50. The Privilege Log identified this as "Research memo sent to legal counsel" at number 4, and the City designated it as protected by the attorney-client, attorney work product and deliberative process privileges. (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 10]; 1 CT 196.)
- 3. June 1, 2006 Memorandum from City Administrative Officer, William Fujioka to City Attorney, Rockard J. Delgadillo ("Fujioka Memo"). This memorandum to the City Attorney bore the subject line, "IRS Notice Regarding Federal Excise

Tax." The Privilege Log identified this document at number 2, and the City designated it as protected by the attorney-client, attorney work product and deliberative process privileges. (1 °CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 11].) Ardon's counsel admits she has an undated copy of this document (identifiable by its file number, WTF:JSS:16060007C). (1 CT 155 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 11]; 1 CT 211.)

The City repeatedly demanded Ardon's counsel return these privileged documents. (1 CT 155–156 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 12, 14]; 1 CT 213–215; 1 CT 222–223.) She refused, disclaiming any legal or ethical duty to do so despite the authorities cited in the City's demands. (1 CT 155–156; 1 CT 213-215 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 11, 13 and Exh. 9 thereto]; 1 CT 211; 1 CT 218–220.)

The City Council never waived the attorney-client privilege as to these documents. (1 CT 150–151 [Declaration of Noreen Vincent ("Vincent Decl."), ¶¶ 4, 5].) The City's Chief Administrator never waived privilege as to these documents. (1 CT 147–148 [Declaration of Miguel Santana ["Santana Decl."], ¶¶ 3–5].) Nor did he authorize anyone else to do so. (*Id.*) Finally, the City Attorney's office never waived its work product rights in the Michaelson Letter or the other two documents. (1 CT 151 [Vincent Decl., ¶ 6].)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, a trial court's decision on a disqualification motion is reviewed for abuse of discretion. If the trial court resolved disputed factual issues, the reviewing court should not substitute its judgment for the trial court's express or implied findings supported by substantial evidence. When substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings, the appellate court reviews the conclusions based on those findings for abuse of discretion. However, ... where there are no material disputed factual issues, the appellate court reviews the trial court's determination as a question of law. In any event, a disqualification motion involves concerns that justify careful review of the trial court's exercise of discretion.

(People ex rel. Dept. of Corporations v. SpeeDee Oil Change Systems, Inc., supra, (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1135, 1143–1144 [internal citations omitted].)

No facts are disputed here. Accordingly, this Court's review is de novo.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. THE PUBLIC RECORDS ACT DOES NOT TRUMP THE
 ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE OR ATTORNEY
 WORK PRODUCT DOCTRINE
 - A. Government Code Section 6254.5 Does Not
 Abrogate the Attorney-Client Privilege Upon
 Inadvertent Disclosure

Two provisions of the Public Records Act are in issue. Government Code, section 6254, subdivision (k) states:

Except as provided in Sections 6254.7 and 6254.13, this chapter does not require the disclosure of any of the following records:

. . . .

(k) Records, the disclosure of which is exempted or prohibited pursuant to federal or state law, including, but not limited to, provisions of the Evidence Code relating to privilege.

Thus, the Public Records Act expressly allows public agencies to bar access to public records subject to any statutory privilege. This includes the attorney-client privilege under Evidence Code section 954, as well as the work-product protection of Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030.

Government Code section 6254.5 states, in relevant part:

Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, whenever a state or local agency discloses a public record which is otherwise exempt from this chapter, to any member of the public, this disclosure shall constitute a waiver of the exemptions specified in Sections 6254, 6254.7, or other similar provisions of law.

Rather than harmonize these provisions with the Evidence
Code sections they reference, the lower courts here determined
unintentional disclosure of privileged material in response to a
Public Records Act request waives the privilege. No prior authority
has ever so held.

Indeed, California courts have ruled time and again that inadvertent disclosure of privileged information does not result in waiver under the Evidence Code, but instead places an ethical obligation on counsel to refrain from exploiting an adversary's inadvertence. (E.g., State Compensation Ins. Fund v. WPS, Inc. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 644, 654 [hereinafter, "State Fund"].)

In *State Fund*, the plaintiff sent defendant's counsel several documents identical to those provided in discovery. However, the plaintiff also inadvertently sent 200 pages of forms entitled, "Civil Litigation Claims Summary," marked "attorney-client communication / attorney work product." (*State Fund, supra,* at p. 648.) The word "confidential" was printed around the perimeter of the first page of each form. (*Ibid.*) When plaintiff's counsel

discovered his error and demanded return of the documents, as here, opposing counsel refused, claiming waiver.

The Court of Appeal disagreed, citing Evidence Code section 912, which provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this section, the right of any person to claim a privilege provided by Section 954 (lawyer-client privilege) ... is waived with respect to a communication protected by the privilege if any holder of the privilege, without coercion, has disclosed a significant part of the communication or has consented to disclosure made by anyone.

State Fund held: "Based on the language of Evidence Code section 912, we hold that 'waiver' does not include accidental, inadvertent disclosure of privileged information by the attorney." (Id. at p. 654.)

Later decisions extend *State Fund* to inadvertent disclosure outside formal discovery. This Court addressed the issue in *Rico v*. *Mitsubishi Motors Corp.* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807 ["*Rico*"]. There, the trial court determined the privileged notes at issue—an attorney's notes of his discussion with an expert — had been disclosed "through inadvertence" of a court reporter at a deposition. (*Id.* at p. 812.) Still, the court found no waiver.

Similarly, in *Clark v. Superior Court (VeriSign)* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 37 ["*Clark*"] the client took privileged materials from his employer even before he retained counsel, and no one ever accused his subsequent counsel of obtaining those materials inappropriately or in discovery. (*Id.* at 42–44, 49.) Again, the court found no waiver. (*Id.* at pp. 54–56.)

The lower courts' conclusions here directly conflict with all these authorities — as well with as the Public Records Act's incorporation of Evidence Code privileges. Quoting the trial court, the Court of Appeal stated here that "disclosure of documents under the [Public Records Act] is not the same as disclosure in the course of litigation discovery." (Opinion, p. 4.) However, as discussed above, the *State Fund* rule is not limited to the discovery context.

Moreover, the lower courts' reasoning here ignores that subdivision (k) of Government Code section 6254 references Evidence Code privileges, indicating intent that courts harmonize the Public Records Act with the Evidence Code, which courts read to maintain privilege despite inadvertent disclosure. (*Gately v. Cloverdale Unified School Dist.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 487, 494 ["Statutory provisions that are in pari materia, i.e., related to the same subject, should be construed together as one statute and harmonized if possible."].) Disclosure of non-privileged material is compulsory under the Discovery Act and the Public Records Act alike, and both except materials privileged under the Evidence Code.

As the Fourth Appellate District noted:

[D]iscovery is coercion. The force of law is being brought upon a person to turn over certain documents. Inadvertent disclosure during discovery by no stretch of the imagination shows consent to the disclosure: It merely demonstrates that the poor paralegal or junior associate who was lumbered with the tedious job of going through voluminous files and records in preparation for a document production may have missed something. [Plaintiff] invites us to adopt a "gotcha" theory of waiver, in which an underling's slipup in a document production becomes the equivalent of actual consent. We decline. The substance of an inadvertent disclosure under such circumstances demonstrates that there was no voluntary release.

(O'Mary v. Mitsubishi Electronics America, Inc. (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 563, 577 ["O'Mary"].)

Nothing in the Public Records Act evidences intent to displace the attorney-client privilege or work product doctrine. Indeed, the statute is expressly to the contrary. Government Code section 6254, subdivision (k) incorporates Evidence Code privileges, including the attorney-client privilege defined by its section 954. Cases interpreting waiver of that privilege have **never** found inadvertent disclosure to constitute waiver. Protection of attorney-client privilege — which the California Supreme Court has held as critical

to our system of jurisprudence for public and private parties alike — requires that rule.

[T]he fundamental purpose behind the privilege is to safeguard the confidential relationship between clients and their attorneys so as to promote full and open discussion of the facts and tactics surrounding individual legal matters. [Citation.] In other words, the public policy fostered by the privilege seeks to insure "the right of every person to freely and fully confer and confide in one having knowledge of the law, and skilled in its practice, in order that the former may have adequate advice and a proper defense." (Baird v. Koerner, supra, 279 F.2d at p. 629.) Although exercise of the privilege may occasionally result in the suppression of relevant evidence, the Legislature of this state has determined that these concerns are outweighed by the importance of preserving confidentiality in the attorney-client relationship. As this court has stated: "The privilege is given on grounds of public policy in the belief that the benefits derived therefrom justify the risk that unjust decisions may sometimes result from the suppression of relevant evidence." [Citation.]

(Mitchell v. Superior Court (1984) 37 Cal.3d 591, 599-600.)

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