S223876

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AUG 1 0 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b)

ESTUARDO ARDON, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff and Respondent

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, Defendant and Appellant

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Six Case No. B252476

Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles Hon. Lee Smalley Edmon, Judge Case No. BC363959

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WOLF HALDENSTEIN ADLER FREEMAN & HERZ LLP

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

misplaced since the very manner of the documents' disclosure here "unequivocally indicated that any privilege was waived." (2 CT 481.)¹⁵

c. Case Law Supports Plaintiff's Position

Directly rejecting the City's position, California courts have emphasized in similar contexts that voluntary disclosure, even if inadvertent, constitutes waiver pursuant to Section 6254.5. (See Masonite Corp. v. County of Mendocino Air Quality Management District (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 436, 455 [49 Cal.Rptr.2d 639] (Masonite) ["Voluntary disclosure of information as a public record, even if mistaken, constitutes a valid waiver of trade secret protection."]; Vallejos v. California Highway Patrol (1979) 89 Cal. App. 3d 781, 787 [152 Cal. Rptr. 846] ["If no claim of confidentiality or exemption from disclosure was then and there asserted it is deemed waived."]; Black Panther Party v. Kehoe (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 645, 656 [117 Cal.Rptr. 106] ["When a record loses its exempt status and becomes available for public inspection, section 6253, subdivision (a), endows every citizen with a right to inspect it." [emphasis in original]; County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1321-22 [89 Cal.Rptr.3d 374] ["Disclosure to one member of the public would constitute a waiver of the exemption, requiring disclosure to any other person who requests a copy."] [citations omitted]; City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1008, 1018 [88 Cal.Rptr.2d 552] ["[O]nce a public record is disclosed to the requesting party, it must be made available for inspection by the public in general."].)

Plaintiff's counsel's obtainment of the documents in response to an admittedly proper PRA request is in no way similar to the plaintiff's conduct in *Clark*, *supra*, 196 Cal.App.4th 37. There the plaintiff removed privileged documents when he left the company and attempted to use them later in litigation against his former employer.

In Masonite, supra, 42 Cal.App.4th 436, Masonite sought to enjoin the Air Quality Management District (the "District") from disclosing certain documents to a third party under the PRA because Masonite contended the documents were trade secrets not subject to disclosure. (Id. at pp. 440-441.) In the pertinent part of Masonite, documents that Masonite delivered to the District were not properly designated by Masonite as trade secrets ("category 2 information"). (Id. at pp. 453-454.) The Court of Appeal held that Masonite's inadvertent failure to label its documents as trade secrets waived any trade secret privilege that would have prevented disclosure under the PRA. (Id. at pp. 454-455.) As the Court held: Masonite was "afforded the opportunity to properly claim a trade secret, and by doing so prevent[] disclosure of confidential information." (Id. at p. 455.) Masonite's failure to properly designate its category 2 information as trade secrets, however, transformed the privileged documents into unprivileged public records because "[v]oluntary disclosure of information as a public record, even if mistaken, constitutes a valid waiver of trade secret protection." (Ibid.) "[T]he release by the District [of the category 2 information] was within the proper scope of authority to disclose public records" under Section 6254.5. (Id. at p. 454.)16

Some of the documents that Masonite delivered to the District were properly designated as trade secrets by Masonite (the "category 3 information"). The District subsequently sent the category 3 information to another agency which, not realizing the reports contained "information for which a claim of trade secret protection had been made,' by Masonite" released the material to a member of the public. (Masonite, supra, 42 Cal. App. 4th at p. 450.) The Court of Appeal held that the category 3 information did not become public records because "[t]he mistaken and inadvertent release of the Category 3 information by the [agency] was, according to the undisputed evidence presented by Masonite, outside the proper scope of the employee's duties." (Id. at p. 452.) That portion of Masonite is inapplicable here, where the holder of the privilege, the City itself, disclosed its own documents and not those of a third party.

The Newark Unified court missed the point of this pertinent holding in Masonite. The Newark Unified court's interpretation of Masonite as assuming an "intentional rather than inadvertent release of [category 2] documents by the public agency" and therefore having "no bearing on, and plainly did not purport to address, the consequences of inadvertent release," (Newark Unified, supra, 2015 Cal.App.LEXIS 671 at p. *40) is contrary to the following language in *Masonite*: "Once the category 2 information was submitted in the reports without trade secret designation, whether deliberately or inadvertently, it was a public record which the District, and others, could disclose without restriction to the public (Masonite, supra, 42 Cal.App.4th at p. 455 [emphasis added].) The focus in *Masonite* as to the release of category 2 information, as it should have been in Newark Unified and as it should be here also, is on whether the *holder of the privilege* knowingly disclosed the information. As the *Masonite* court correctly held, "[v]oluntary disclosure of information as a public record, even if mistaken, constitutes a valid waiver" of (Ibid.) "Generally, "waiver" denotes the voluntary privilege. relinquishment of a known right. But it can also mean the loss of an opportunity or a right as a result of a party's failure to perform an act it is required to perform, regardless of the party's intent to abandon or relinquish the right." (Ibid. [quoting Platt Pacific, Inc. v. Andelson (1993) 6 Cal.4th 307, 315 [24 Cal.Rptr.2d 597, 862 P.2d 158]; Berkeley Unified School District v. State of California (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 350, 362 [39] Cal.Rptr.2d 326]].)¹⁷

[&]quot;A privileged person would seldom be found to waive, if his intention not to abandon could alone control the situation. There is always also the objective consideration that when his conduct touches a certain point of disclosure, fairness requires that his privilege shall cease whether he intended that result or not." (8 Wigmore, Evidence § 2327 (McNaughton rev. 1961.) See also McCormick, Evidence § 93 (Cleary ed. 1972)

Here, the City was also "afforded the opportunity to properly claim" privilege of its documents and "by doing so prevent disclosure of confidential information." (*Masonite*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.4th at p. 455.) Instead, the City gave the documents to a member of the public, waiving any claim of privilege that may have previously attached. (See 2 CT 479.) As Judge Edmon noted while referring to the *Masonite* facts, "If anything, the case for waiver is only stronger Based on the plain language of the statute, any attorney-client or work product privilege that may have once existed was waived at the time of disclosure under the [PRA]." (*Ardon*, *supra*, 232 Cal.App.4th at p. 182 [quoting 2 CT 479].)

The City attempts to distinguish *Masonite* on the basis that the opinion applies trade secret law, which the City argues without citation to any authority "does not exempt inadvertently disclosed materials." (Op. Br. at p. 23.) The trade secret privilege, like the attorney-client privilege, is one of the many privileges enumerated in Division 8 of the Evidence Code. The trade secret privilege, like the attorney-client privilege, is also subject to waiver. (See *Stadish v. Superior Court* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1130, 1141 [84 Cal.Rptr.2d 350, 356] [defendant gas company, "as a matter of law, waived its right to assert the trade secret privilege" by failing to timely object to requests for production of documents on that basis].) The trade secret privilege, like the attorney-client privilege, is also exempted from disclosure by Government Code section 6254, subdivision (k) which references "the Evidence Code relating to privilege." Moreover, the City's statement that trade secret law "does not exempt inadvertently disclosed materials" ignores one of the holdings in *Masonite* itself—that "[t]he

^{[&}quot;[w]aiver includes . . . not merely words or conduct expressing an intention to relinquish a known right, but conduct, such as a partial disclosure, which would make it unfair for the client to insist on the privilege thereafter."].)

Furthermore, both the trial court and Court of Appeal correctly recognized that not only must a court generally "assume that the Legislature knew how to create an exception if it wished to do so," but also that, specifically here, the Legislature "clearly knew how to create an exception to the otherwise absolute waiver provision in section 6254.5: it created nine of them," and none provide an exception for inadvertent disclosure. (*Ardon*, *supra*, 232 Cal.App.4th at p. 183 [internal quotations and citation omitted] [quoting 2 CT 477].)

Where, as here, the Legislature has enumerated nine specific exceptions, courts cannot imply others. (*DiCampli-Mintz v. County of Santa Clara* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 983, 992 [150 Cal.Rptr.3d 111; 289 P.3d 884]; see also *City of Ontario v. Superior Court* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 894, 902 [16 Cal.Rptr.2d 232] [same].) As this Court has recognized in a case relied on by the City, "deference to the Legislature is particularly necessary when we are called upon to interpret the attorney-client privilege, because the Legislature has determined that evidentiary privileges shall be available only as defined by statute. (Evid. Code, § 911.)" (*Roberts v. City of Palmdale, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 373.)

Local agencies charged with implementing the PRA, such as Ventura and San Diego Counties, for example, recognize that inadvertent disclosure constitutes a waiver. (2 CT 369 [County of Ventura recognizes in its 2008 *Guide To The California Public Records Act* that if a document that "would otherwise be exempt [] is disclosed to any member of the public, any applicable exemption *is waived* and may not later be asserted... even if the disclosure was inadvertent." (citing Gov. Code, § 6254.5) (emphasis in original)]; 2 CT 381 [San Diego County PowerPoint presentation downloaded from its web site on July 9, 2013, demonstrating it agrees].) Whether this will require agencies to "staff records request[s] with lawyers" as the City predicts (Op. Br. at pp. 30-31) is an issue the City

should raise with the California Legislature, not this Court. 11

4. There is no Conflict Between Section 6254.5 and Evidence Code Section 912

The court in *Newark Unified School District* recently mistakenly concluded that it was "compelled to interpret section 6254.5 to exclude inadvertent disclosures in order to avoid a conflict with Evidence Code section 912." (*Newark Unified School District v. Superior Court* (July 31, 2015, No. A142963) 2015 Cal.App.LEXIS 671 at p. *24 (*Newark Unified*).) However, nowhere in the opinion does that court consider that the Legislature has already avoided the very conflict the *Newark Unified* court felt it was compelled to avoid. Section 6254.5 provides that "*Inlotwithstanding any other provisions of law*, whenever a state or local agency discloses a public record ... this disclosure shall constitute a waiver of the exemptions specified in Section[] 6254..." (Gov. Code, § 6254.5.) Section 6254 subdivision (k) specifically relates to privileges under the Evidence Code. Therefore, section 6245.5 expressly provides that disclosure constitutes a waiver of those privileges.¹²

Publicly available practices and procedures for the cities of Fresno and San Jose and the counties of Santa Clara and San Diego require review by the city attorney or county counsel when there is a question whether a responsive document is exempt. (See, e.g., 2 CT 455-456.) The City appears to already follow a similar policy. (2 CT 458-460.)

Schatz v. Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP (2009) 45 Cal. 4th 557, 573 [87 Cal.Rptr.3d 700, 198 P.3d 1109] cited by the City, is distinguishable. Schatz concerned the presumption against implied preemption or repeal because the Mandatory Fee Arbitration Act (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6200 et seq.) at issue in that case does not expressly state that the arbitration it creates is to the exclusion of any other arbitration, such as pursuant to the California Arbitration Act (Code Civ. Proc., § 1280 et seq.). Here, in contrast, the Legislature expressly stated in the PRA that its waiver-by-disclosure provision applies to the privileges specified in Section 6254, subdivision(k) "[n]otwithstanding any other provisions of the law."

The Newark Unified court quotes this language from section 6245.5, but then fails to consider it as part of its analysis of the statute. Section 6254.5 and Evidence Code section 912 are not "equally applicable to govern the waiver of privilege" in these circumstances (Newark Unified, supra, 2015 Cal.App.LEXIS 671 at p. *33) because the Legislature made clear that Section 6254.5 applies to responses to PRA requests to the exclusion of all other provisions of law. (Gov. Code § 6254.5.) The Legislature also made clear that the Section 6254.5 waiver-by-disclosure rule "shall not apply to disclosures . . . [m]ade through other legal proceedings" (*Ibid.*) Therefore, interpreting section 912 as equally applicable to PRA requests would not only render superfluous the "[n]otwithstanding any other provisions of law" language, but would also render meaningless the Legislature's clear distinction drawn between disclosures made pursuant to a PRA request and disclosures made in other legal proceedings, including discovery in litigation, which is contrary to the rules of statutory interpretation. (See Dix v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 442, 459 [279 Cal.Rptr. 834, 807 P.2d 1063] ["Where reasonably possible, we avoid statutory constructions that render particular provisions superfluous or unnecessary."].)

a. "Inadvertent Disclosure" Law Applies to Disclosures Made by Someone Other Than the Holder of the Privilege

In analyzing the language of Evidence Code section 912 and *State Fund*'s interpretation of it, the *Newark Unified* court erroneously stated:

Under subdivision (a) of section 912, the right to claim the specified privileges "is waived . . . if any holder of the privilege, without coercion, has disclosed a significant part of the communication or has consented to disclosure made by anyone." Despite the statute's declaration that any uncoerced "disclosure" creates a waiver, courts have consistently held that inadvertent disclosures do not. In the leading case, [State Fund], the court read into the statute the requirement that a

mistaken and inadvertent release of the Category 3 information" by the public agency did not constitute waiver because, in effect, the agency did not have consent from the holder of the privilege (Masonite) to disclose the information. (*Masonite*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.4th at p. 452.) As discussed in section IV.A.4.a. *supra*, "inadvertent disclosure" law is based upon considerations of waiver. As Judge Edmon observed, "waiver by an attorney (which requires consent) is distinct from waiver by the actual holder of the privilege." (2 CT 480, citing *State Fund*, 70 Cal.App.4th at p. 652.) Therefore, the City's attempt to distinguish *Masonite* fails.

5. The League Memo was Never Privileged

The City misstates the record in making the argument that the Three Documents consist of protected work product. (Op. Br. at p. 35.)¹⁸ None of the Three Documents was authored by an attorney in the City Attorney's Office, as the City claims. Ardon's counsel does not possess the Michaelson Letter, and the Fujioka Letter and the Fujioka Memo, written by the CAO, are not protected by the attorney work product doctrine.

Moreover, the League Memo was never protected by the attorney work product or attorney-client privileges. It does not contain, discuss or reflect communications between the City and its attorneys. The League of California Cities is not an attorney and certainly not counsel to the City. Even if the League Memo was authored by attorneys, the City lacks standing to assert the privilege, and the League attorney(s) waived any

The City implies that it does not have a record of the documents it gave to Ms. Rickert pursuant to her PRA request. (See Op. Br. at pp. 34-35 ["(and perhaps others she has yet to disclose)"].) The City's failure to keep track of its own documents does not require disqualification of Plaintiff's counsel. Moreover, the CD, which is available, is the best evidence of what documents were produced. At no time has the City requested a copy of the CD, apparently preferring to cast baseless allegations instead of gathering probative evidence.

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